

Journal of Cystic Fibrosis 10 (2011) 221-227



#### Review

# Communication of information about reproductive and sexual health in cystic fibrosis. Patients, parents and caregivers' experience

Trudy Havermans a,\*, Janice Abbott b, Kristine Colpaert A, Kris De Boeck a

<sup>a</sup> Cystic Fibrosis Centre, University Hospital Leuven, Belgium
<sup>b</sup> School of Psychology, University of Central Lancashire, Preston, UK

Received 29 January 2011; received in revised form 1 April 2011; accepted 4 April 2011 Available online 4 May 2011

#### **Abstract**

Background: This review evaluated research concerning communication and information about reproductive and sexual health (RSH) in cystic fibrosis (CF).

Methods: Papers in the English language reporting RSH issues in CF, published between January 2000 and December 2010, were included. The review focused on (a) the content of information given to parents and patients, (b) the timing of information, (c) the sources of information, (d) attitudes and emotional reactions, (e) chronic illness and sexual behavior, (f) methodological and cultural considerations and (g) ethical considerations.

Results: Eleven papers were identified originating from Australia, the United Kingdom and Poland. Patients and parents expressed the need for up-to-date, CF-related verbal and written information, provided by the CF team and infertility specialists. Patients were often embarrassed to initiate a discussion. Health care providers expressed the need for training to counsel patients in RSH.

Conclusion: A pro-active discussion of RSH issues is proposed as a standard part of the care-pathway. A list of recommendations is given to initiate this process.

© 2011 European Cystic Fibrosis Society. Published by Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Cystic fibrosis; Reproductive health; Sexual health and sexuality

### Contents

1.	Introduction	222
2.	The identification of papers	222
3.	Content of information	222
4.	Timing of informing	222
5.	Sources of information	225
6.	Attitudes and emotional reactions in communicating about RSH	225
7.	Chronic illness and sexual behavior	225
8.	Methodological and cultural considerations	226
	Ethical considerations	
	Conclusions	
	10.1. The need for guidelines	226
Refer	rences	227

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author at: University Hospital Leuven 49 Herestraat, B-3000 Leuven, BELGIUM. Tel.: +32 16 340268; fax: +32 16343816. *E-mail address:* trudy.havermans@uzleuven.be (T. Havermans).

#### 1. Introduction

In 1982, Levine and Stern [1] conducted a study to investigate the sexual functioning of married patients with cystic fibrosis (CF). Nine of the 30 patients (population of 450) reported serious sexual problems and five patients attributed these to their CF. This study was one of the first, concluding that adult patients with CF contemplating marriage have a reasonable chance for normal sexual functioning. Nearly 30 years later, patients still have their expectations of a normal sexual relationship and, above all, hope for children [2,3]. These raised expectations are based on an improved life expectancy and better quality of life and possibly on the improved information patients and/or parents receive about this topic. Since 1982 a number of papers have studied reproductive health in CF [4]. Despite this, little is known about the progress that has been made in informing and educating patients, nor about the different topics that are included within the theme of reproductive and sexual health (RSH) in CF.

The present review will focus on (a) the content of information given to parents and patients, (b) the timing of information, (c) the sources of information for parents and patients, (d) attitudes and emotional reactions in communicating about RSH, (e) chronic illness and sexual behavior, (f) methodological and cultural considerations and (g) ethical considerations. We will conclude with recommendations drawn from the literature and discuss topics that need further study.

# 2. The identification of papers

PubMed was searched to locate all full papers in the English language reporting reproductive and sexual health issues in CF, published between January 2000 and December 2010. Secondary searches were done using the papers that were identified. Papers were located that included 'cystic fibrosis,' 'reproductive health,' 'sexual health' and 'sexuality' in the title, abstract or keywords. A total of 11 research papers were identified, originating from Australia, the United Kingdom and Poland. Table 1 provides a concise overview of these studies.

The study populations were male patients (five papers) [5,8,10,14,15], female patients (one paper) [12], mixed sample of males and females patients (one paper) [6], health care professionals (one paper) [7], mixed sample of parents and female patients (two papers) [9,13] and parents of male patients (one paper) [11].

#### 3. Content of information

The content of information on RSH that patients and parents receive is diverse and seems to depend on patient gender, CF center and/or country. Not all studies clearly distinguish between general and CF-related sexual health information. A list of important topics, based on the recent (medical) literature, is given in Table 2.

Two studies (Polish and UK samples) have concluded that women in both cultures reported suboptimal sexual health advice in relation to CF and its treatments [12,13]. In particular, they had a poor understanding of contraceptive use in relation to antibiotic treatment. According to the UK authors, this resulted

in 50% of women not using any contraception, compared to 25% of healthy women, and resulted in more unplanned pregnancies in the CF group.

Most men with CF seemed aware of both the extent and cause of their infertility [5,6,8,10,15], although they expressed the need for information on reproductive options. Underinforming patients may lead to misconceptions and risky sexual behavior[7,12]. Sawyer et al. [10,15] reported two important misconceptions. One in three men assumed they did not need to use a condom and those informed by health professionals were more likely to assume this than men informed by their parents. One in 10 men mixed up infertility with impotence. Another misinterpretation is reported by Popli et al. [14] with patients overestimating the risk of their biological child having CF after conception with assisted reproductive techniques. The majority of health care professionals routinely informed adolescent boys that sexual performance is not affected by CF, but only 3% inform them about small volume ejaculations [7].

An Australian study [11] noted that parents were well informed, although only 30% of them were satisfied with their current RSH knowledge. All parents knew about the risk of sexually transmitted diseases in both CF and their healthy peers and most understood that their son could father a child. Only 43% of parents were certain their sons (aged 6–19 years) had been informed of probable infertility. The Polish study [13] reported several misunderstandings. Only 23% of mothers of girls understood the problems connected with female fertility and 58% thought that women with CF had absolutely normal fertility. In addition, 44% of this sample believed that men with CF had normal fertility.

#### 4. Timing of informing

Girls more than boys initiated the discussion about fertility issues [6]. Both genders received their first information between the ages of 12 and 16 [9–13,15]. For Australian and Polish girls this was around 13 years of age [9,13]. In the United Kingdom, girls were given contraceptive advice around the age of 16 years although they would have preferred to have been informed around the age of 13 [12]. Australian mothers informed their daughters about RSH issues around 9 years of age [9]. Importantly, girls requested more information with increasing age, probably due to them becoming more interested and/or active in sexual behavior [9].

Sawyer et al. [10] found that boys were rarely informed by health care professionals about infertility before the age of 15. Yet, when parents informed their sons they preferred to do so at an earlier age than the CF doctor (13.2 years versus 17.2 years) [10,15]. An earlier study from the United Kingdom[8] reported that 56% of boys never received advice on infertility or contraception. These results are unexpected as in other studies the majority of boys had been informed about their infertility. The majority of men in all cultures said that it was pertinent to inform boys early, and earlier than is currently being done, preferably during their early teens [5,7,14,15]. Most health care professionals consider 13–14 years the best age to inform male patients about infertility [11]. Studies do not report on professional's views on the best time to inform female patients about RSH and CF.

Table 1
Studies conducted on reproductive and sexual health (RSH) in cystic fibrosis: Information, attitudes and experiences.

Authors	Topic	Sample	Method	Results	Main conclusions
Rodgers et al. [5] UK	Male infertility: best time to inform	18 male patients	Questionnaire	Sources of information were the CF team [6], parents [5], and written information [2]. Five discovered the information unexpectedly at a median age of 17. 14/18 expected the CF team to discuss infertility.  All patients wanted the CF team to initiate the discussion, supported with written information and repeated over time.  5/18 had semen analysis, 17/18 think this should be routine.	CF patients prefer discussion about infertility at an earlier age than given.  Semen analysis should be routine.  Need for liaison between pediatric and adult services.
Fair et al. [6] UK	Attitudes to fertility and information of men and women with CF	82 male and 54 female patients	Postal questionnaire	All but two men knew about infertility. For 85% of men and 72% of women having children was important. 43% of men and 26% of women had never had any discussion of fertility issues with CF team. 56% of men think this should occur before the age of 16. Learning about infertility was associated with strong negative emotions.	Need for improvement in information process about infertility.  Timing is important.  Important gender differences.  Health care team should initiate discussion.
Sawyer et al. [7] USA	Reproductive and sexual health in males with CF, attitudes of health care professionals: Practice, attitudes and barriers	32 health care professionals from 4 CF centers	Interview	Women were more likely to initiate the discussion. 66% informed parents of male patients at diagnosis 22% informed during late childhood. All discussed with adolescents. Age thought appropriate was 13.8, but actual information was around age 15.2. 50% inform that sexual performance is not affected by CF. 38% inform about condoms. 50% discuss normal sexual performance. 13% offer semen analysis. 3% inform about small volume ejaculation. 19% discuss reproductive options.	Health care professionals are aware of need for information.  Embarrassment and time were major barriers.  Need for training.
Thickett et al. [8] UK	Awareness of infertility in men with CF	72 male patients	Questionnaire	Barriers reported were embarrassment, time, insufficient training. 56% never received advice on infertility or contraception. 24% received information from CF clinician, Remainder received information from parents, other family, CF nurse, GP, fertility clinic, pediatrician or books. 71% felt the CF clinician or CF nurse (24%) should be the informer. 57% knew it was rare for a CF man to father a child, 25% knew it was less common to be a father. 24% had had sperm count. 38% expressed wish to have a sperm count. 68% expressed wish to be a father.	Patients are not well informed about fertility, most patients wish a sperm count and many patients wish to consider assisted conception.  Genetic counseling, screening of the partner for CF carrier status and consideration of implications of raising a child with CF an shortened life span.
Nixon et al. [9] AU	Sources of RSH information for girls and their mothers	55 female patients and their mothers	Questionnaire	43% patients said they would consider fertility treatment. CF doctor important source. 87% of girls and 78% of mothers never discussed any of the 7 issues with their CF doctor. 37% felt comfortable asking. 35% were interested but CF team should raise the topic. 19% too embarrassed.	Girls turn to their mother for information, but mothers may not be sufficiently informed.  The majority of mothers want more information specific on RSH and CF.  CF team should initiate discussion.
Sawyer et al. [10] AU	Sexual and reproductive health in men with CF	94 male patients including 18 transplanted men	Questionnaire	94% knew about infertility, most hear later (16.4 years) than desired (14.4 years). 53% from preferred source.	Men desired more information on RSH. Earlier discussion is indicated. Semen analysis should be routine.

Table 1 (continued)

Authors	Topic	Sample	Method	Results	Main conclusions
				53% had semen analysis. 68% of those who did not have semen analysis, wanted this. 73% had semen analysis before the age of 18. In adolescence 1 in 3 assumed not to need condoms. 1 in 10 thought infertility was equal to impotence. 66% wanted more information on reproductive options. 84% wanted children.	Discussion of reproductive options is needed.
Frayman et al. [11] AU	RSH in boys with CF: what do parents know and say?	84 mothers , 64 fathers	Questionnaire	All but one knew about infertility since diagnosis.  19% report subsequent discussions with physician, initiated by parents.  Adolescence was considered best time to inform patient.  6% worry about child's reaction.  95% think parents (alone or with CF specialist) should inform son.  30% were satisfied with current knowledge.	Parents are well informed about infertility.  Little opportunity but definite need for subsequent discussions about RSH with health care professionals.
Gatiss et al. [12] UK	Contraceptive services and advice for women with CF	42 female patients	Questionnaire	79% were sexual active. 31% had 19 pregnancies, 5 were unplanned. 50% used contraceptives. 62% reported not to having received contraceptive advice specific to CF. 57% said not to have been warned about antibiotics and combined pill.	Relatively high rate of unplanned pregnancies. Sub-optimal advice or use of range of contraceptive methods. CF team lack in training. Contraceptive services lack knowledge of CF.
Korzeniewska et al. [13] POL	Knowledge and experiences of reproductive and sexual health issues in women with CF as well as knowledge and reproductive health attitudes of their parents	64 female patients and 64 parents	Questionnaire	68% had first sexual intercourse at a mean age of 19.2 years. 84% of sexual active women used contraceptives. 32.8% understood problems with RSH related to CF for women and men. Sources of information were popular scientific papers and other patients. 70% never discussed RSH with parents. 23% of parents understood female RSH problems related to CF; 56% knew of male infertility; 75% of patients and 40% of parents felt sex health discussions should start between	There is a knowledge gap about CF and RSH issues in both female patients and their parents. There is some knowledge about sexual issues, however not enough to have a safe sexual life.
Popli et al. [14] UK	Awareness of fertility treatment in men with CF	37 male patients	Postal questionnaire	12 and 14 years of age with CF doctor and mother. 24 knew about infertility problems related to CF. 15 men were first told by their CF physician, 10 knew from a book, CF newsletter of internet, other sources were CF nurse, fertility specialist or parents. 22 were informed during early or late adolescence; 8 first hear when they were in their 20 s and these men considered this too late. Only 50% knew infertility treatment was available. 24 worried about their offspring having CF. 20 worried how CF would affect them being a father. 8 felt is justifiable if they were refused treatment because of their CF.	A significant number of patients do not know about infertility until late in their teens.  Many are unaware of treatment options.  Worry about CF affecting them being a parent.  Worry about their children having CF.  Need for proactive reproductive counseling, with access to fertility specialists.
Sawyer et al. [15] AU	Variability of male RSH knowledge and preferences and clinical practice across different CF clinics	5 CF clinics, 264 male patients, including 42 transplanted patients	Questionnaire	8 felt is justifiable if they were refused treatment because of their CF. 65% knew of near universal infertility, 42% heard about infertility from their preferred source, but later than preferred. Less than half had undergone semen analysis, often later than preferred. 57 men were fathers (29 with assisted reproductive technology).	Men's preferences around RSH were more consistent than clinical practices. Guidelines and training would help reduce the gap between men's RSH preferences and clinical practices.

Table 2
Important topics in reproductive and sexual health in CF.

```
Sexual development, puberty delay [2,3,16–20]
Semen analysis, small volume ejaculation [2,15,20]
Infertility [2,3,14,15,19–22]
Menstrual cycle [3,8,17,19,20,23]
Condom use–prevention of STDs–birth control [3,12,14,15,23–25]
Reproductive treatment options [2,3,14,16,20–22,24–28]
Antibiotic use and vulvovaginal candidiadis [14,25,26,29]
Pregnancy and CF [3,14,22–24,30–32]
```

Including review articles [4,16,24,28,30–32] and guidelines [23].

Information to parents should be provided at diagnosis, preferable early on, but at least during the first 2 years [33]. For parents of boys this generally happens (87%), but no data is available for parents of girls. The majority of parents express a need for re-education when their son is around the age of 10 to be sure they are able to educate their son themselves [9,11].

#### 5. Sources of information

RSH information for girls comes predominantly from their parents and their GP [9,13]. The majority of girls from the Australian study [9] wished to learn more about RSH issues as long as a CF team member raised the topic. However, for modern contraceptives they felt that the CF health care professionals lacked knowledge and preferred to go to their GP, even though their GP may not be up to date with CF care.

Boys generally received information from their parents [5,7,11] and/or a member of the CF team [5,8,10,14]. Those under 16 years were informed more often by their parents, and those over 16 years were informed more often by a health care professional [15]. Other sources of information were CF friends, CF newsletters/websites, a family planning clinic, friends or written material [8,9,13,14]. Fair et al. [6] found that more than half of their patients specifically wanted written information about fertility issues, while less than a quarter remembered receiving any. Both patients and parents expressed the need for multiple sources of information, including written information [9-11,13,15]. Special educational seminars on RSH and CF were requested by the Polish patients and their mothers [13]. However, health care professionals generally reported insufficient training and were uncertain about their skills to talk about RSH in CF [7,11].

# 6. Attitudes and emotional reactions in communicating about RSH

Embarrassment is a common reaction when discussing RSH issues. Nineteen percent of Australian girls were too uncomfortable to discuss these issues with anyone in the clinic [9]. Seventy percent of Polish girls [13] had never discussed RSH issues with their parents, even though they designated their parents as the preferred source of information. For boys, learning about possible (or reduced) infertility raised strong emotions in 67 of 82 British patients [6]: 40% were shocked,

24% bewildered and 19 were angry. Two Australian studies [10,15] reported that the majority of boys did not remember any strong reaction when told about their infertility, although 32% were a little upset and 18% were very upset. It is important to note that the older the patient the more upsetting the news. The impact of infertility became greater over time especially for men who wanted children. Twenty-two percent of men reported a significant impact of infertility on their relationship.

For parents, Frayman et al. [11] found that 67% of 148 parents reacted negatively to the news about the infertility of their son, but the significance of the news diminished over time. Sixty percent of parents (predominantly mothers) were concerned about their sons' reaction to the knowledge of infertility. Some parents considered it in their child's best interest to inform them early so that there were no surprises when they reached adulthood.

Health care professionals are to some extent concerned about parents' attitudes toward communicating RSH issues [7,11]. Nevertheless, the majority of health care professionals have positive attitudes towards informing patients and parents and see it as their task as CF specialists. Some, be it few, feel apprehensive and consider other health topics more important to talk about and/ or believe that medicine is aimed at disease control and less emphasis is needed on other aspects [7,14]. With recent technical developments, e.g., assisted reproductive techniques, professionals are more comfortable to talk about RSH in CF, because they can focus on these techniques [7].

#### 7. Chronic illness and sexual behavior

Laumann et al. [34] argue that sex is a basic human right and a fundamental part of a full and healthy life. For most healthy men and women sex contributes to their personal and relational quality of life. For patients with a chronic disease, sex is also a significant determinant of quality of life, with sexual intimacy being an important mode of communication with their partner [35].

The reviewed papers on RSH tend to focus on fertility and reproductive issues and less so on sexual behavior and/or sexual functioning. Teenagers with CF are sexual active, have a normal sexual libido (despite the delayed onset of puberty) and engage in similar risk taking sexual behavior as their healthy peers (sexual transmitted diseases and unplanned pregnancy) [2]. Apart from anecdotal evidence little is known about the impact of CF on sexual functioning or sexual well-being. From clinical practice we know that some patients describe sex as an efficient and effective method of airway clearance. Female patients have reported that they participate in sexual activity even though they themselves were too tired because of their CF. An exemplar paper on chronic disease and sexual behavior was recently published in the Journal of Sex Research[36]. In this paper a conceptual framework was provided to study sexual behavior in relation to chronic illness. The authors discuss 'sexual functioning' (generally accepted as "normal" performance standards described within the sexual response cycle) and sexual well-being (referring to the person's subjective, individual experience of sexuality and how it is evaluated in the context of his or her personal life and relational situation). A chronic disease may affect physical and/or

psychological well-being and therefore indirectly affect sexual behavior. This model is comprehensive and provides an excellent framework for CF research on how CF affects sexual functioning and sexual well-being. As Popli et al. [14] concludes, health care professionals are not only responsible for the prolonging of life, but also to help patients obtain a good quality of life.

# 8. Methodological and cultural considerations

All but two studies included patients from a single CF clinic (Table 1). No information was given concerning the representativeness of the samples, either nationally or in relation to the general clinic population. Self-report questionnaires were predominantly used for data collection. These questionnaires were 'ad hoc' and developed for the purpose of the studies. The different methodologies and populations make it impossible to assess the validity and reliably of the scales used or to reliably compare the results across studies and cultures. Nonetheless, these data have provided a starting point for the discussion of RSH issues and future research.

As the studies originated from the United Kingdom, Australia and Poland, it is important to consider the expected impact of cultural differences in RSH information. General sex education is often first provided in schools [37] and children with CF will receive the same information as their healthy peers. In some countries this education may start in primary school, in other countries this may be in secondary school. The content of this general sexual health education may also differ depending on the cultural and/or religious background of a country. For example, Polish girls with CF felt generally ill informed [13], which may be due to the fact that Poland is a catholic country with mainly traditional catholic education and restrictions on general RSH education in schools.

#### 9. Ethical considerations

Ethical considerations were sparsely mentioned in the studies. An exception is the finding that 8 out of 37 male patients would find it acceptable if they were refused assisted reproductive techniques on the basis of their medical condition [14]. Ethical considerations were discussed by Sawyer et al. [10], for example, issues such as 'having a child with CF as a parent with CF,' 'the process of parents with CF and their partners in balancing the medical needs and shortened life span with the desire to parent children,' 'the ethics of partner screening' and 'the role of selective termination.' In their paper on fertility issues in CF, Lyon and Bilton [38] describe the apparent paradox of promoting population screening to reduce the burden of CF disease while supporting men with CF to parent children who will be carriers. It is beyond the scope of this review to discuss ethical issues in detail. A recent article discussing the ethics of patient and parental procreative obligations in CF is suggested for further reading [39]. One has to be aware of the impact ethical considerations may have on the availability of information. For example, the personal views of health care professional may result in some patients not receiving the information they need.

#### 10. Conclusions

We reviewed 11 research papers on education and communication about reproductive health and sexuality in CF published over the past 10 years. The studies have used different methodologies and populations and have originated from different cultural backgrounds making them difficult to compare. More studies have been undertaken with male patients than female patients. This may be because of the immediate impact of infertility on men with CF. Nevertheless, the studies including females revealed that women have a similar need for information, and that the information that they have received often lacks a specific CF focus.

There is wide variability concerning the timing of information given to patients with CF. All reviewed studies have indicated that health care professionals in CF clinics inform later than is preferred by the patients, which would be around 13 years of age. Attitudes, emotional barriers, embarrassment and personal preferences seem to play an important role in communication about RSH in CF [6,9–12,15], which may lead to under-information and negative emotional reactions.

Several recommendations can be drawn:

- Women need more detailed CF-related information, for example about side effects of CF drugs or the raised risk of thrombosis when taking oral contraceptives in combination of having an indwelling intravenous catheter.
- Men need present-day information which should include new topics, for example assisted reproductive techniques.
- Possible misconceptions need permanent attention, e.g., men mixing up infertility and impotence.
- Health care professionals should initiate discussions with patients and their parents.
- Provide information during early during adolescence.
- Repeat information over time, perhaps at set stages within child/adolescents development.
- Need for multiple source of information, including up-todate written information and access to fertility advice centers.
- Parents need help to fulfil their role to inform and educate their children.
- When informing patients about RSH issues in CF, one has to take into account sexual experiences and sexual well-being, with respect for patients' privacy.
- Ethical and cultural issues need to be considered when informing patients with CF and their parents about reproductive and sexual health issues.

# 10.1. The need for guidelines

Looking at the studies over the past 10 years and comparing the data with earlier studies we have to conclude that there are areas where patients are still ill informed about RSH in relation to their CF [12–15,40,41]. Patients with CF understand many aspects of their disease [42], but within the area of RSH there are important knowledge gaps. Themes of communicating and informing about RSH in CF are broadening, but the issues of 'timing,' 'who informs,' 'who follows up' and 'what is communicated or not'

remain important. Consensus papers have been written on the treatment of CF [43,44] and CF pregnancy [23], but no guidelines are available on how to counsel sexually active males and females with CF. Cultural differences will impact on the extent to which guidelines on RSH in CF will be implemented in different countries and/or amongst different cultural groups.

#### References

- Levine SB, Stern RC. Sexual function in cystic fibrosis. Relationship to overall health status and pulmonary disease severity in 30 married patients. Chest Apr. 1982;81(4):422–8.
- [2] Roberts S, Green P. The sexual health of adolescents with cystic fibrosis. J R Soc Med 2005;98(Suppl 45):7–16.
- [3] Towns S. Sexuality and reproductive issues in cystic fibrosis: are we doing enough? Paediatr Respir Rev. Jun; 11 (2): 73–4.
- [4] Tsang A, Moriarty C, Towns S. Contraception, communication and counseling for sexuality and reproductive health in adolescents and young adults with CF. Paediatr Respir Rev. Jun; 11 (2): 84–9.
- [5] Rodgers HC, Baldwin DR, Knox AJ. Questionnaire survey of male infertility in cystic fibrosis. Respir Med Oct. 2000;94(10):1002–3.
- [6] Fair A, Griffiths K, Osman LM. Attitudes to fertility issues among adults with cystic fibrosis in Scotland. The Collaborative Group of Scottish Adult CF Centres. Thorax Aug. 2000;55(8):672-7.
- [7] Sawyer SM, Tully MA, Colin AA. Reproductive and sexual health in males with cystic fibrosis: a case for health professional education and training. J Adolesc Health Jan. 2001;28(1):36–40.
- [8] Thickett KM, Stableforth DE, Davies RE, Smith E, Edenborough FP. Awareness of infertility in men with cystic fibrosis. Fertil Steril Aug. 2001;76(2):407–8.
- [9] Nixon GM, Glazner JA, Martin JM, Sawyer SM. Female sexual health care in cystic fibrosis. Arch Dis Child Mar. 2003;88(3):265-6.
- [10] Sawyer SM, Farrant B, Cerritelli B, Wilson J. A survey of sexual and reproductive health in men with cystic fibrosis: new challenges for adolescent and adult services. Thorax Apr. 2005;60(4):326–30.
- [11] Frayman KB, Cerritelli B, Wilson J, Sawyer SM. Reproductive and sexual health in boys with cystic fibrosis: what do parents know and say? Pediatr Pulmonol Nov. 2008;43(11):1107–16.
- [12] Gatiss S, Mansour D, Doe S, Bourke S. Provision of contraception services and advice for women with cystic fibrosis. J Fam Plann Reprod Health Care Jul. 2009;35(3):157-60.
- [13] Korzeniewska A, Grzelewski T, Jerzynska J, Majak P, Soloniewicz A, Stelmach W, et al. Sexual and reproductive health knowledge in cystic fibrosis female patients and their parents. J Sex Med Mar. 2009;6(3): 770-6.
- [14] Popli K, Bourke S, Stewart J. Fertility issues in men with cystic fibrosis: survey of knowledge and opinion of patients. Fertil Steril Apr. 2009;91(4 Suppl): 1297–8
- [15] Sawyer SM, Farrant B, Wilson J, Ryan G, O'Carroll M, Bye P, et al. Sexual and reproductive health in men with cystic fibrosis: consistent preferences, inconsistent practices. J Cyst Fibros Jul. 2009;8(4):264–9.
- [16] Arrigo T, Rulli I, Sferlazzas C, De Luca F. Pubertal development in cystic fibrosis: an overview. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab Mar. 2003;16(Suppl 2): 267–70.
- [17] Johannesson M, Gottlieb C, Hjelte L. Delayed puberty in girls with cystic fibrosis despite good clinical status. Pediatrics Jan. 1997;99(1):29–34.
- [18] Neinstein LS, Stewart D, Wang CI, Johnson I. Menstrual dysfunction in cystic fibrosis. J Adolesc Health Care Sep. 1983;4(3):153–7.
- [19] Sawyer SM, Tully MA, Dovey ME, Colin AA. Reproductive health in males with cystic fibrosis: knowledge, attitudes, and experiences of patients and parents. Pediatr Pulmonol Apr. 1998;25(4):226.
- [20] Smith HC. Fertility in men with cystic fibrosis assessment, investigations and management. Paediatr Respir Rev. Jun; 11 (2): 80–3.

- [21] Jarzabek K, Zbucka M, Pepinski W, Szamatowicz J, Domitrz J, Janica J, et al. Cystic fibrosis as a cause of infertility. Reprod Biol Jul. 2004;4(2):119–29.
- [22] Sueblinvong V, Whittaker LA. Fertility and pregnancy: common concerns of the aging cystic fibrosis population. Clin Chest Med Jun. 2007;28(2):433–43.
- [23] Edenborough FP, Borgo G, Knoop C, Lannefors L, Mackenzie WE, Madge S, et al. Guidelines for the management of pregnancy in women with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros Jan. 2008;7(Suppl 1):S2–S32.
- [24] Johannesson M. Effects of pregnancy on health: certain aspects of importance for women with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros Mar. 2002;1(1):9–12.
- [25] Plant BJ, Goss CH, Tonelli MR, McDonald G, Black RA, Aitken ML. Contraceptive practices in women with cystic fibrosis. J Cyst Fibros Sep. 2008;7(5):412–4.
- [26] Johannesson M, Carlson M, Brucefors AB, Hjelte L. Cystic fibrosis through a female perspective: psychosocial issues and information concerning puberty and motherhood. Patient Educ Couns Jun. 1998;34(2):115–23.
- [27] McCallum TJ, Milunsky JM, Cunningham DL, Harris DH, Maher TA, Oates RD. Fertility in men with cystic fibrosis: an update on current surgical practices and outcomes. Chest Oct. 2000;118(4):1059–62.
- [28] Rawal N, Gazvani R, Mountford R. Infertility management in men with cystic fibrosis. J Reprod Contraception 2009;20(1):57-62.
- [29] Sawyer SM, Bowes G, Phelan PD. Vulvovaginal candidiasis in young women with cystic fibrosis. BMJ Jun. 18 1994;308(6944):1609.
- [30] Lau EM, Moriarty C, Ogle R, Bye PT. Pregnancy and cystic fibrosis. Paediatr Respir Rev. Jun; 11 (2): 90–4.
- [31] Simcox AM, Duff AJ, Morton AM, Edenborough FP, Conway SP, Hewison J. Decision making about reproduction and pregnancy by women with cystic fibrosis. Br J Hosp Med (Lond) Nov. 2009;70(11):639–43.
- [32] Wexler ID, Johannesson M, Edenborough FP, Sufian BS, Kerem E. Pregnancy and chronic progressive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med Feb. 15 2007;175(4):300-5.
- [33] Borowitz D, Robinson KA, Rosenfeld M, Davis SD, Sabadosa KA, Spear SL, et al. Cystic Fibrosis Foundation evidence-based guidelines for management of infants with cystic fibrosis. J Pediatr Dec. 2009;155 (6 Suppl):S73-93.
- [34] Laumann EO, Nicolosi A, Glasser DB, Paik A, Gingell C, Moreira E, et al. Sexual problems among women and men aged 40–80 y: prevalence and correlates identified in the Global Study of Sexual Attitudes and Behaviors. Int J Impot Res Jan.-Feb.2005;17(1):39–57.
- [35] Clayton A, Ramamurthy S. The impact of physical illness on sexual dysfunction. Adv Psychosom Med 2008;29:70–88.
- [36] Verschuren JE, Enzlin P, Dijkstra PU, Geertzen JH, Dekker R. Chronic disease and sexuality: a generic conceptual framework. J Sex Res. Mar; 47 (2): 153–70
- [37] McElderry DH, Omar HA. Sex education in the schools: what role does it play? Int J Adolesc Med Health Jan.-Mar. 2003;15(1):3-9.
- [38] Lyon A, Bilton D. Fertility issues in cystic fibrosis. Paediatr Respir Rev Sep. 2002;3(3):236–40.
- [39] Bosslet GT. Parental procreative obligation and the categorisation of disease: the case of cystic fibrosis. J Med Ethics Feb. 2 2011 [Epub ahead of print].
- [40] Sawyer SM, Phelan PD, Bowes G. Reproductive health in young women with cystic fibrosis: knowledge, behavior and attitudes. J Adolesc Health Jul. 1995;17(1):46–50.
- [41] Sawyer SM. Reproductive and sexual health in adolescents with cystic fibrosis. BMJ Nov. 2 1996;313(7065):1095–6.
- [42] Siklosi KR, Gallagher CG, McKone EF. Development, validation, and implementation of a questionnaire assessing disease knowledge and understanding in adult cystic fibrosis patients. J Cyst Fibros. Dec; 9 (6): 400–5
- [43] Heijerman H, Westerman E, Conway S, Touw D, Doring G. Inhaled medication and inhalation devices for lung disease in patients with cystic fibrosis: a European consensus. J Cyst Fibros Sep. 2009;8(5):295–315.
- [44] Kerem E, Conway S, Elborn S, Heijerman H. Standards of care for patients with cystic fibrosis: a European consensus. J Cyst Fibros Mar. 2005;4(1): 7–26.